S \_\_\_\_\_

---

---

In the  
**Supreme Court**  
of the  
**State of California**

---

---

JUSTIN KIM,

*Plaintiff and Appellant,*

v.

REINS INTERNATIONAL CALIFORNIA,

*Defendant and Respondent.*

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,  
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. B278642  
SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, No. BC539194,  
HON. KENNETH FREEMAN

---

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

---

ERIC B. KINGSLEY (185123)  
\*ARI J. STILLER (294676)  
KINGSLEY & KINGSLEY, APC  
16133 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 1200  
Encino, California 91436  
(818) 990-8300  
eric@kingsleykingsley.com  
ari@kingsleykinglsey.com

*Attorneys For Plaintiff and Appellant

## ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether an employee who is authorized to pursue a claim under the California Labor Code’s Private Attorneys General Act (“PAGA”) loses standing as an “aggrieved employee” under PAGA by dismissing his individual claims against an employer.

## INTRODUCTION

This case could spell the end of litigation under the California Labor Code’s Private Attorneys General Act (“PAGA”). PAGA is “one of the primary mechanisms for enforcing the Labor Code” in California. (*Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles, LLC* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 383.) The statute deputizes “aggrieved employees” as private attorneys general to prosecute workplace violations on the state’s behalf. (*Ibid.*) In the present case, the Court of Appeal held that an employer can secure dismissal of a PAGA action by settling the individual claims of the state’s authorized representative. Once an employee settles her individual claims—or prevails on such claims such that they are fully redressed—the employee no longer qualifies as an “aggrieved employee” under PAGA and loses standing to continue prosecuting the action.

This cannot be what the Legislature had in mind when it enacted PAGA’s “aggrieved employee” provision. As the Court of Appeal itself acknowledged, the clause is intended to prevent “members of the general public” from filing PAGA actions. (Slip op. at 7; Lab. Code § 2699(a), (c) [PAGA claims may only be “brought by” a person “who was employed by the alleged violator and against whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed.”].) The Legislature meant to limit the universe of potential PAGA plaintiffs to those suffering alleged harm, not to prevent employees who *do* suffer alleged harm from maintaining PAGA actions because they settle or prevail on individual claims.

Interpreting the “aggrieved employee” clause as the court did also leads to inconsistencies within PAGA. For example, PAGA authorizes “aggrieved employees” to bring claims for which no private right of action exists. (*Cf., Lu v. Hawaiian Gardens Casino, Inc.* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 592, 595 [“section 351 [of the Labor Code] does not contain a private right to sue”]; Lab. Code § 2699.5 [section 351 provides the basis for a non-curable PAGA claim]; *Lopez v. Friant & Associates, LLC* (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 773, 781, review denied (Jan. 10, 2018) [PAGA authorizes claims for wage statement violations for which an employee lacks the right to sue on an individual basis].) The Legislature would not have authorized such claims if it would be impossible to bring them, yet *Reins* forecloses such claims by pinning standing on an employee’s ability to maintain “viable Labor Code claims” in an individual capacity. (Slip op. at 9.)

Finally, *Reins* conflicts with this Court’s *Iskanian* rule barring private arbitration agreements from waiving PAGA. (*Iskanian, supra*, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 386–387.) In the present case, the court ordered Justin Kim (“Kim”) to private arbitration and stayed his PAGA action while the arbitration went forward. (1 AA 249.) When the arbitration concluded, the court held that Kim had lost PAGA standing because his individual claims were redressed through the arbitration proceeding. (2 AA 444.) Although the State of California never agreed to a PAGA waiver, *Reins*’s interpretation of the “aggrieved employee” clause let the employer defeat PAGA by compelling private arbitration.

Now is the time for the Court to set forth a definitive position on the meaning of PAGA’s standing requirement. This Court has never addressed the requirements for maintaining “aggrieved employee” status once a PAGA suit is filed. Its only comment on this issue came recently in *Williams*, where it noted that PAGA’s standing requirement does not compel a PAGA representative to present proof of a violation prior to

discovering employee contact information. (*Williams v. Superior Court* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 531, 546.) If the Court does not step in now, *Reins* will become the law of the land and employers will simply walk away from PAGA liability by settling the individual claims of the state’s authorized representative.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. Kim Brings a Class and PAGA Action for Wage and Hour Violations.**

Reins International California, Inc. (“Reins”) operates a restaurant chain where Kim worked as a “training manager.” (1 AA 49–50; slip op. at 2–3.) Kim alleges that Reins misclassified him and other training managers as exempt from overtime and certain wage requirements, failed to pay all wages owed, and failed to provide lawful meal and rest periods. (1 AA 45.) Kim filed a class action lawsuit. (1 AA 14.) After receiving authority from the Labor & Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”) to serve as a PAGA representative, he amended his complaint to assert a claim for civil penalties pursuant to PAGA on behalf of himself and other aggrieved employees. (1 AA 45, 58 at ¶ 71; slip op. at 3.)

#### **B. The Court Dismisses Kim’s Class Claims, Orders Arbitration of His Individual Claims, and Stays His PAGA Action.**

Reins moved to compel arbitration of Kim’s individual claims, dismiss his class claims, and stay his PAGA action pending arbitration. (1 AA 67; slip op. at 3.) Kim opposed the motion, arguing that the PAGA action should proceed concurrently or prior to arbitration. (1 AA 115.) The court granted Reins’s motion. It dismissed Kim’s class claims, ordered

arbitration of Kim’s individual claims, and stayed his PAGA claim while the arbitration moved forward.<sup>1</sup> (1 AA 249, 262.)

**C. In Arbitration, Reins Serves an Offer to Compromise for \$20,000 in Exchange for a Dismissal of Kim’s Individual Claims with Prejudice.**

With the arbitration in progress, Reins served Kim with an offer to compromise his “individual claims” pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 998. (2 AA 313, ¶ 8; 1 AA 336-337.) Reins offered \$20,000 plus costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees spent “in the prosecution of Plaintiff’s individual claims,” in exchange for a dismissal of Kim’s “individual claims against Reins in their entirety.” (2 AA 336–337.)

**D. Kim Accepts.**

Kim accepted Reins’s offer. (2 AA 345–346.) Pursuant to the 998, Kim dismissed his individual claims with prejudice. (2 AA 285–287.) The request for dismissal states that “the only cause of action remaining in the First Amended Complaint is Cause of Action Number Seven for PAGA Penalties.” (2 AA 287, ¶ 12; *see also* 2 AA 286, ¶ 3 [the PAGA claim “shall remain”].)

**E. The Court Dismisses Kim’s PAGA Claim, Finding that Settling Removed His Standing as an “Aggrieved Employee.”**

After the arbitration concluded, Reins moved for summary adjudication on Kim’s one remaining cause of action for PAGA penalties. (2 AA 298–304.) Reins argued that Kim no longer qualified as an “aggrieved employee” under PAGA because he “resolved his individual claims against Reins under the Labor Code.” (2 AA 301–303.) The court granted Reins’s motion and dismissed Kim’s PAGA claim, holding that

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeal’s opinion erroneously states that the trial court reserved the issue of class arbitrability for the arbitrator. (Slip op. at 3.) In fact, the court dismissed class claims, finding that “the parties did not agree to class-wide arbitration, and accordingly, [the court] does not refer that issue to the arbitrator.” (1 AA 262:1–7.)

Kim lost his “aggrieved employee” status because “[h]is rights have been completely redressed.” (2 AA 444.) At the hearing, the court noted that this case presents a novel issue that is ripe for consideration by the higher courts. (2 AA 441–447; 1 RT 13:13-16 [“I encourage you to take it up and educate us all on what we should do in the future.”].)

**F. The Court of Appeal Affirms.**

The Court of Appeal issued a published opinion on December 29, 2017. The panel held that, by accepting Reins’s settlement offer and dismissing his individual claims, Kim “essentially acknowledged that he no longer maintained any viable Labor Code-based claims.” (Slip op. at 8.) According to the Court of Appeal, Kim’s settlement in arbitration stripped him of standing as an “aggrieved employee” and he therefore could no longer serve as a PAGA representative. (Slip op. at 7–8.) Kim did not file a petition for rehearing and now seeks review from this Court. (*See* Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(3).)

**GROUND FOR REVIEW**

The Court should grant review to settle an important question of law going to the heart of the Legislature’s intent in enacting PAGA—whether PAGA’s standing provision prevents an employee from continuing to serve as a PAGA representative once his individual claims for Labor Code violations are redressed. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

“The Legislature enacted PAGA to remedy systemic underenforcement of many worker protections.” (*Williams, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 545.) To enhance enforcement of the Labor Code, PAGA “deputiz[es] employees harmed by labor violations to sue on behalf of the state and collect penalties, to be shared with the state and other affected employees.” (*Ibid.*) As the Court of Appeal correctly notes, PAGA contains a standing requirement meant to prevent “members of the general public” from filing PAGA actions. (Slip op. at 7.) To narrow the universe of potential

plaintiffs, PAGA provides that only an “aggrieved employee” may bring a claim. (Lab. Code § 2699(c).) PAGA defines “aggrieved employee” as “any person who was employed by the alleged violator and against whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed.” (Lab. Code § 2699(c).)

There is no dispute that merely alleging harm suffices to establish standing at the outset. (*See Williams, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 546.) However, *Reins* imposes an additional requirement that a PAGA representative maintain the ability to sue in an individual capacity at all times in order to continue serving as a PAGA representative during litigation. (*See slip op.* at 7–8 [Kim stripped of standing because he “essentially acknowledged that he no longer maintained any viable Labor Code-based claims against Reins.”].)

The *Reins* court’s expansion of PAGA’s standing requirement compels this Court’s review. Not only does *Reins*’s holding find no support in PAGA’s text or legislative history, its interpretation of the term “aggrieved employee” conflicts with other of PAGA’s provisions. (*Cf.* Lab. Code §§ 2699(c), 2699(g), 2699.5.) If left unresolved, inconsistencies between the “aggrieved employee” provision and PAGA’s other provisions will sow confusion in the law. More fundamentally, *Reins* undermines PAGA’s purpose by letting employers “pick off” the state’s authorized representative to evade the robust enforcement of Labor Code violations that PAGA was intended to promote.

Additionally, where an employee has signed an arbitration agreement, the *Reins* rule lets employers dispose of PAGA liability by securing arbitration of individual claims, contrary to this Court’s holding in *Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles, LLC* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348. *Iskanian* invalidates PAGA waivers in arbitration agreements. (*Id.* at p. 384.) *Reins* creates a loophole to *Iskanian* because it deems an employee to have been

made whole by an arbitration proceeding, and thus to have lost the ability to maintain the “viable” individual Labor Code claims after arbitration that *Reins* says are necessary for PAGA standing. (*See* slip op. at 8.) This creates a backdoor PAGA waiver. The Court should grant review.

**A. The *Reins* Rule Conflicts with the Legislature’s Intent in Enacting PAGA’s “Aggrieved Employee” Provision.**

**1. The Legislature Intended to Narrow the Universe of Employees Eligible To Bring PAGA Claims, Not to Restrict Eligible Employees from Maintaining PAGA Actions After Filing.**

*Reins* conflicts with the text and legislative history of PAGA. “To determine legislative intent, a court begins with the words of the statute . . . .” (*Hsu v. Abbata* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 863, 871.) If the language of the statute is clear, the inquiry into legislative intent ends. (*Olson v. Automobile Club of Southern California* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1142, 1147.)

PAGA’s “aggrieved employee” definition is clear. Labor Code section 2699(c) defines “aggrieved employee” as “any person who was employed by the alleged violator and against whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed.” (Lab. Code § 2699(c).) There is no dispute that Kim satisfied these criteria when he filed suit:

The parties do not dispute that Kim was employed by Reins. Kim alleged in his first amended complaint that he was a person against whom Labor Code violations were committed. Pursuant to his allegations, therefore, it appears that Kim was an aggrieved employee at the time his complaint was filed.

(Slip op. at 6–7.) This should have ended the Court of Appeal’s inquiry because PAGA’s “aggrieved employee” provision is only concerned with limiting whom a PAGA claim may be “brought by.” (Labor Code § 2699(a) [PAGA suit may only be “brought by” an aggrieved employee].) As there is no dispute that Kim qualified as an “aggrieved employee” when he “brought” suit and no adjudication after filing that he was uninjured, there

was no basis to dismiss his PAGA claim merely because he settled his individual, non-PAGA causes of action during the litigation. (*See* Appellant’s Opening Brief at 21; Reply Brief at 22.)

Nothing in the text of the “aggrieved employee” definition suggests an ongoing obligation to maintain viable individual Labor Code claims during litigation in order to preserve PAGA standing. In fact, the Court of Appeal’s analysis suggests the opposite—that the point of the “aggrieved employee” requirement was to prevent the general public and people who “suffered no harm” from filing PAGA actions. (Slip op. at p. 7, citing Judiciary Com., Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 796 (2003–2004 Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 29, 2003, p. 6, ¶ 5; Respondent’s Renewed Motion for Judicial Notice and Exhibit Filed Concurrently Therewith at p. 15, ¶ 5.) The intent was not to prevent employees who *do* suffer alleged harm from pursuing a PAGA claim simply because they dismiss their separate individual claims by way of a settlement. (*See* slip op. at 7.)

Interpreting PAGA’s “aggrieved employee” provision narrowly is consistent with the traditional understanding that *qui tam* relators—such as PAGA representatives—are assigned the injuries of the entity that they represent. For example, as this Court noted in *Iskanian*, “[t]he *qui tam* plaintiff under the Federal False Claims Act has standing in federal court under article III of the United States Constitution, even though the plaintiff has suffered no injury in fact, because that statute ‘can reasonably be

regarded as effecting a partial assignment of the Government's damages claim."<sup>2</sup> (*Iskanian, supra*, 59 Cal.4th at p. 382.)

The *Reins* court expanded the "aggrieved employee" provision beyond what it determined was the Legislature's intent. Rather than focusing on whether Kim satisfied the criteria for bringing suit, it held that he became ineligible to continue with his PAGA claim because his individual claims were redressed. (Slip op. at 8.) In the court's view, Kim's settlement made it as if he were a "member of the general public" and had never alleged that he was harmed by Reins's Labor Code violations in the first place.<sup>3</sup> (Slip op. at 7–8.) There is nothing supporting this logic in PAGA's text or legislative history. This Court should grant review to correct the Court of Appeal's faulty interpretation.

**2. The Legislature Could Not Have Intended the *Reins* Rule Because PAGA Authorizes Claims for Which No Private Right of Action Exists.**

Other indicators of legislative intent conflict with *Reins*'s interpretation of the "aggrieved employee" provision. Significantly, PAGA's authorization of claims for which no private right of action exists shows that the Legislature did not intend viable individual claims to serve

---

<sup>2</sup> Similarly, California courts have held that paying a representative under the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") the full value of her claim does not necessarily dispose of her standing as one who has suffered "injury in fact" because "[t]he voter[s]' focus was instead on the *filing* of lawsuits by attorneys who did not have clients impacted by the defendant's conduct." (*Wallace v. GEICO General Ins. Co.* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1390, 1402, emphasis in original, citing *Californians For Disability Rights v. Mervyn's, LLC* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 223, 228.)

<sup>3</sup> This conclusion did not result from a finding that Kim's dismissal of individual claims with prejudice caused an adjudication in Reins's favor. The Court of Appeal "reject[ed] any such argument," slip op. at 8, fn. 2, and the trial court found that Kim was the prevailing party in arbitration because he received a \$20,000 settlement. (*See Reply Appendix* at 3–5.)

as a predicate for maintaining standing under PAGA. (*See ibid.*) For example, this Court has held “that section 351 [of the Labor Code] does not contain a private right to sue.” (*Lu v. Hawaiian Gardens Casino, Inc.* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 592, 595.) That section provides that tips are the sole property of the employee for whom they are left. (*Id.* at p. 594.) Notwithstanding that there is no private right of action for a violation of that section, PAGA states that an alleged violation of section 351 provides the basis for a non-curable PAGA claim. (*See* Lab. Code § 2699.5.) The Legislature would not have explicitly authorized such claims if it would be impossible to bring them. *Reins*’s interpretation of the “aggrieved employee” provision thus fails to harmonize with PAGA as a whole, and must be corrected by this Court. (*See McCarther v. Pac. Telesis Grp.* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 104, 110 [“statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized. . . .”].)

Similarly, *Reins* conflicts with a recent opinion providing that a PAGA claim for wage statement violations can proceed without the evidence necessary to prove an individual violation. (*Lopez v. Friant & Associates, LLC* (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 773, 781, review denied (Jan. 10, 2018).) In *Friant*, the Court of Appeal held that a PAGA claim for wage statement violations does not require proof of the “knowing and intentional” element that applies to an individual wage-statement claim. (*Ibid.*) That element applies to claims for statutory penalties, whereas a PAGA action seeks only civil penalties. (*Id.* at p. 784.) *Reins* conflicts with *Friant* because, under *Friant*, an employee may pursue a PAGA action for civil penalties even if he lacks proof of the elements necessary to proceed on a claim in his own right, whereas under *Reins*, an employee cannot proceed with PAGA unless he maintains viable individual Labor Code claims for all violations on which the PAGA action is predicated. (Slip op. at 9.) The Court should grant review to resolve this conflict.

**3. The Legislature Did Not Intend to Force Employees to Bring Individual Claims Concurrently with PAGA Claims In Order to Maintain PAGA Standing.**

*Reins* also conflicts with PAGA’s guarantee that an “aggrieved employee” may pursue individual claims “either separately or concurrently with” a PAGA action. (Lab. Code § 2699(g).) Under *Reins*, an employee *must* bring a separate individual action concurrently with a PAGA action in order to toll the statute of limitations on his individual claims. Otherwise, the statute of limitations on individual claims could expire during the pendency of the PAGA case, at which point the employee will no longer be “aggrieved” and PAGA will be dismissed. (*See slip op.* at 8.) The fact that the Legislature preserved the right to bring a PAGA action on its own without any individual claim, or separately or concurrently with individual claims, shows that it did not intend for the “aggrieved employee” provision to force employees to bring separate individual claims or risk losing PAGA standing. (*See Williams v. Superior Court* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 642, 647 [stand-alone PAGA claim can proceed without any “underlying” individual controversy; *Reyes v. Macy’s, Inc.* (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 1119, 1123 [finding that there is no “individual claim under PAGA”].) This additional inconsistency compels review.

**B. *Reins* Undermines PAGA By Letting Employers “Pick Off” the State’s Authorized Representative.**

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