Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 2/26/2018 by Leah Toala, Deputy Clerk

No. S246911

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUSTIN KIM, Plaintiff and Appellant

vs.

REINS INTERNATIONAL CALIFORNIA, INC. Defendant and Respondent

Appeal Upon a Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Four Case No. B278642

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Case No. BC539194

Honorable Kenneth R. Freeman, Judge Presiding

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

<u>First</u>, the Court of Appeal's decision does not raise an important question of law for this Court to settle because it is already well-established that a plaintiff must have standing to sue. (Code Civ. Proc., § 367.) Moreover, this Court has already established that "PAGA imposes a standing requirement." (*Williams v. Superior Court* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 431,

558.) Only "aggrieved employees" have standing to pursue PAGA claims. (Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1756, AFL-CIO v. Superior Court (2009) 46 Cal. 4th 993, 1005.) The reason is that PAGA "does not create ... any other substantive rights." (Id. at 1003.) It is simply a procedural statute that only permits "an 'aggrieved employee'...." to sue for underlying Labor Code violations. (Id. at 1004 [emphasis added].) Once Kim dismissed his underlying Labor Code claims with prejudice, those claims were conclusively settled and resolved. As a consequence, the Court of Appeal correctly held Kim could no longer claim to be "aggrieved" under PAGA and he lacked standing to prosecute his PAGA claims. The Court of Appeal's holding is unremarkable. It is consistent with well-established standing principles, PAGA's legislative history, and this Court's own precedent. The Court does not need to grant review to reaffirm these already settled principles.

<u>Second</u>, review is not necessary to secure uniformity with other decisions. The Court of Appeal's decision does not create a conflict between appellate districts. Every court that has addressed the issue has held a plaintiff cannot maintain a PAGA claim once his or her individual claims were resolved or barred. Kim's Petition does not cite a single case that has reached a different result. There is none.

For these reasons and those that follow, the Court should deny Kim's Petition.

II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. <u>The Court Dismissed Class Claims, Ordered Kim's</u> <u>Individual Claims to Arbitration and Stayed His PAGA</u> <u>Claims.</u>

Kim is a former employee of Reins. On March 13, 2014, he filed a putative class action lawsuit against Reins. The operative complaint alleged multiple violations of the Labor Code and claims for violations of California's Business and Professions Code ("UCL claim"). Kim also pursued a representative action for civil penalties under PAGA. (1 AA 45-60.)¹

While employed, Kim agreed to arbitrate the claims at issue with Reins on an individual basis. (1 AA 86-90.) Reins thus moved to compel arbitration of his individual claims, dismiss class claims and stay the PAGA claims pending arbitration. (1 AA 63-76.) On January 16, 2015, the trial court issued an order dismissing class claims and compelling arbitration as to all claims except the PAGA claim and UCL claim for injunctive relief. It stayed the PAGA claim pending arbitration. (1 AA 247-262.)

B. <u>Kim Resolved His Individual Labor Code Claims in Their</u> Entirety and Dismissed Them with Prejudice.

The case then proceeded to individual arbitration of Kim's Labor Code claims. (*See* 2 AA 282-283.) During arbitration, Reins offered Kim a statutory offer to compromise under Code of Civil Procedure section 998

¹ "AA" refers to Kim's Appendix of Record filed in the Court of Appeal. The citation format refers to the volume and page number in the Appendix.

("998 Offer") which required dismissal of his individual claims with prejudice. Kim accepted Reins' 998 Offer. (2 AA 345-347.) As a result, Kim requested the trial court dismiss all of his individual causes of action (including his Labor Code and UCL claims), *with prejudice*. (2 AA 285 at ¶ 2.) The request for dismissal stated "the only cause of action remaining in the [FAC] is Cause of Action Number Seven for PAGA penalties." (2 AA 287 at ¶ 12.)

On November 9, 2015, the Court issued an order dismissing Kim's individual claims with prejudice and dismissing Kim's putative class claims without prejudice. (2 AA 395.)

C. <u>The Trial Court Granted Reins' Motion for Summary</u> Adjudication on Kim's PAGA Claim

On June 1, 2016, Reins filed a motion for summary adjudication on Kim's PAGA action ("Motion"). (2 AA 313 at ¶ 12.) On August 16, 2016, the trial court ruled on Reins' Motion. It concluded Kim did not have standing to pursue his PAGA claims after dismissing his individual Labor Code claims with prejudice. (2 AA 441-445.) It explained that "[Kim], once he dismissed his claims with prejudice pursuant to the §998 offer ... no longer is aggrieved." (2 AA 444.) Ultimately, on October 3, 2016, the trial court entered judgment in Reins' favor. (2 AA 446-447.)

D. <u>The Court of Appeal Unanimously Affirmed the Trial</u> <u>Court's Order.</u>

Kim appealed the trial court's order and judgment. (2 AA 462.) On

December 29, 2017, the Court of Appeal issued a unanimous decision affirming the trial court's ruling. The Court of Appeal specified that the sole issue presented was: "After an employee plaintiff has settled and dismissed individual Labor Code causes of action against the employer defendant, does the plaintiff remain an 'aggrieved employee' with standing to maintain a PAGA cause of action?" (*Kim v. Reins Int'l California, Inc.*, (2017) 18 Cal. App. 5th 1052, 1056.)

In affirming, the Court of Appeal examined the applicable authority and PAGA's legislative history. It explained: "PAGA was not intended to allow an action to be prosecuted by any person who did not have a grievance against his or her employer for Labor Code violations." (*Id.* at 1058.). The court found that "by accepting the settlement and dismissing his individual claims against Reins with prejudice, Kim essentially acknowledged that he no longer maintained any viable Labor Code-based claims against Reins." (*Ibid.*) Consequently, after he dismissed his claims with prejudice, Kim no longer met the definition of "aggrieved employee." He thus lacked standing to maintain a PAGA action. (*Id.* at 1058-59.)

Kim sought review from this Court on February 6, 2018.

III. <u>THE COURT SHOULD NOT GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE</u> <u>THIS ACTION DOES NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS</u> <u>OF CALIFORNIA RULE 8-500(B)(1).</u>

California Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1) limits the type of case appropriate for review. It provides: "The Supreme Court may order review

of a Court of Appeal decision ... [w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or settle an important question of law." (*Id.*) Supreme Court review is limited. Review is intended to rectify disputes between the courts of appeal or resolve a pressing issue of public importance. It is *not* intended merely to review the merits of the decision of the Court of Appeal. *See* 9 Witkin, CAL. PROC. 5th (2008) Appeal, § 915, p. 976 (no right to Supreme Court review "on the merits of the decision alone"); *People v. Davis*, 147 Cal. 346, 348 (1907).

Kim's petition does not meet this limited standard.

A. <u>Review Is Not Needed To Settle an Important Question of Law.</u>

Kim contends that the Court of Appeal's decision raises important questions about PAGA's standing requirement. He frames the issue as "whether PAGA's standing provision prevents an employee from continuing to serve as a PAGA representative once his individual claims for Labor Code violations are redressed." (Petition at 11.) The Court of Appeal held that it did. But its decision was neither earth-shattering nor odd, and does not need to be "settled" by this Court. The decision applied bedrock standing law to PAGA, which indisputably has a standing requirement.

It is well-established that a plaintiff must have standing to sue. (Code Civ. Proc., § 367 ["Every action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest, except as otherwise provided by statute"].) It is

equally clear that once a plaintiff dismisses claims with prejudice, those claims are barred from further prosecution. (*Boeken v. Philip Morris USA, Inc.* (2010) 48 Cal. 4th 788, 793 ["dismissal with prejudice is the equivalent of a final judgment on the merits, barring the entire cause of action"].)

These principles have been applied in the class and representative action context. For example, in *Watkins v. Wachovia Corporation* (2009) 172 Cal. App. 4th 1576, plaintiff voluntarily settled her wage claim. The Court of Appeal found that due to her settlement, she "no longer ha[d] standing to pursue [her] appeal." (*Id.* at 1581.) It explained:

Watkins assumes, however, that her 'class claim' for unpaid overtime wages has independent vitality and can continue after she has settled her 'individual claim' for the same wages. The argument reflects a misunderstanding of the nature of a class action....'[T]he right of a litigant to employ [class action procedure] is a procedural right only, ancillary to the litigation of substantive claims. Should these substantive claims become moot ..., by settlement of all personal claims for example, the court retains no jurisdiction over the controversy of the individual plaintiffs.'

(Id. at 1588-89 [emphasis in original] [internal citations omitted].)

These principles of law are not altered simply because Kim alleged a PAGA action. Under Supreme Court precedent, PAGA has a standing requirement. (*Williams, supra,* 3 Cal. 5th at 558 ["PAGA imposes a standing requirement; to bring an action, one must have suffered harm."]) This high Court has held PAGA confers no "property rights or any other substantive rights." (*Amalgamated Transit Union, supra*, 46 Cal. 4th at 1003.) Like other class or representative vehicles, it is "simply a *procedural statute* allowing an *aggrieved employee* to recover civil penalties" for underlying Labor Code violations. (*Id.* [emphasis added].) The fact that an employee must be "aggrieved" to have standing to sue under PAGA is clearly established by PAGA's Legislative History and codified in the statute. (Lab. Code § 2699(c); Reins' Renewed Motion for Judicial Notice, Ex. C [Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 796 [2003-2004 Reg. Sess.] as amended May 12, 2003, p. 15].)

Applying these well-settled standing principles, the Court of Appeal found that "by accepting the settlement and dismissing his individual claims against Reins with prejudice, Kim essentially acknowledged that he no longer maintained any viable Labor Code-based claims against Reins." (*Kim, supra*, 18 Cal. App. 5th at 1058.) Consequently, Kim no longer met the definition of "aggrieved employee" and lacked standing to maintain a PAGA action against Reins.

There is nothing surprising about the Court of Appeal's holding. Kim characterizes the Court of Appeal's opinion as a doomsday decision that "could spell the end of litigation under [PAGA]." (Petition at 7.) Not so. The Court of Appeal's holding was "confined to the specific circumstances at issue in this case: Kim asserted both individual Labor Code claims and a PAGA claim in the same lawsuit, and he voluntarily chose to settle and dismiss his individual Labor Code claims with prejudice." (*Kim, supra*, 18 Cal. App. 5th at 1059.) The Court of Appeal made clear in its ruling, Kim's voluntary dismissal of his Labor Code claims impacts *his PAGA standing only*. (*Id.*) It explained: "Kim's dismissal affects only *Kim's* standing as PAGA representative—it does not reflect on the veracity of the PAGA allegations asserted in Kim's complaint, nor the ability of any aggrieved employee in a position substantially similar to Kim's to assert such PAGA claims." (*Id.*)

In short, upholding PAGA's standing requirement will not end PAGA litigation as we know it. People who have not settled and dismissed their individual Labor Code claims can still bring *representative* PAGA claims. They can seek penalties on behalf of "similarly aggrieved" people who have not settled their claims. This is precisely as it should be for a representative claim. PAGA does not allow people who have no claim to seek penalties on behalf of those that do; nor does it allow those that have a viable claim to seek penalties on behalf of those whose claims are barred.²

For these reasons, this case does not raise an important legal question that warrants this Court's review.

B. <u>Review is Not Needed to Secure Unanimity of Decisions</u> <u>Because the Court of Appeal's Decision is in Accord with</u> <u>Every Court that has Addressed this Issue.</u>

The Court of Appeal's decision is consistent with prior judicial

 $^{^2}$ In *Villacres v. ABM Industries, Inc.* (2010) 189 Cal. App. 4th 562, the Court of Appeal held a class action settlement of Labor Code claims barred a later PAGA claim based on the same or similar Labor Code violations.

decisions and creates no conflict between courts. Essentially, Kim argues that once an employee alleges he or she was aggrieved, he or she remains an "aggrieved employee" in perpetuity under PAGA regardless of whether the individual claim is legally barred or facially invalid. But every court that has addressed the issue has held that an employee is not "aggrieved" and thus lacks standing to sue under PAGA when substantive or procedural defenses exist to the underlying Labor Code claims:

• In *Villacres, supra*, 189 Cal. App. 4th at 569, 587, an employee was part of a putative class that resolved all Labor Code claims but did not explicitly resolve PAGA claims. The class settlement was approved and funded. (*Id.* at 569.) Plaintiff then brought a PAGA action against the same employer based on the same underlying violations of the Labor Code. (*Id.* at 569, 578.) The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of employer, finding plaintiff was barred from seeking PAGA claims due to the resolution of claims in the prior lawsuit. (*Id.* at 569.) The Court of Appeal affirmed. (*Id.*)

• In *Holak v. K Mart Corp.* (E.D. Cal. May 19, 2015) No. 1:12cv-00304 AWI-MJS, 2015 WL 2384895, at *4-6, *motion to certify appeal denied* (E.D. Cal. Aug. 11, 2015) 2015 WL 4756000, plaintiff's PAGA claim was dismissed because the underlying Labor Code claims were timebarred. That court *did not* find that the PAGA claims could proceed because Holak was once the victim of Labor Code violations, no matter

how far back the violations occurred. Instead, it found that Holak was "not an aggrieved employee ...because none of the violations ... were committed against her" within the limitations period. *Id.* at *6. Holak thus "lack[ed] standing" to pursue a PAGA claim. *Id.* at *4.

• In *Wentz v. Taco Bell Corporation* (E.D. Cal. Dec. 4, 2012) No. 12-cv-1813 LJO DLB, 2012 WL 6021367, at *5, the court dismissed plaintiff's PAGA claim because the operative complaint alleged no underlying Labor Code violations. The court agreed with defendant's argument that "a bare PAGA claim fails in the absence of underlying wage and hour and California Labor Code claims." *Id.*

• In *Pinder v. Employment Dev. Department* (E.D. Cal. Jan. 5, 2017) No. 2:13-CV-00817 TLN-DB, 2017 WL 56863, at *22, the court determined defendant was entitled to judgment on plaintiff's PAGA claim because the underlying Labor Code claims "failed as a matter of law."

• In Boon v. Canon Bus. Solutions, Incorporated (C.D. Cal. May 21, 2012) No. 11-cv-08206 R (CWX), 2012 WL 12848589, at *1, *rev'd and remanded on other grounds* (9th Cir. 2015) 592 F. App'x 631, the court held "[w]here the Court has ruled against the plaintiff on all of his underlying claims for violation of California Labor Code, he is not an aggrieved employee and therefore may not bring a PAGA claim on behalf of himself or others." • In *Gofron v. Picsel Technologies, Incorporated* (N.D. Cal. 2011) 804 F. Supp. 2d 1030, 1043, the court held that "[b]ecause the Court has granted summary judgment against [plaintiff] on her underlying claims for violations of the California Labor Code, she does not meet the definition of an 'aggrieved employee.' Accordingly, [defendants'] motion for summary judgment on [plaintiff's PAGA claim] is granted."

• In *Molina v. Dollar Tree Stores, Incorporated* (C.D. Cal. May 19, 2014), No. 12-cv-01428- BRO FFMX, 2014 WL 2048171, at *14, the court held since plaintiff "did not prove at trial he was an aggrieved employee ... [he] may not pursue a representative action under PAGA."

These decisions are uniform. They do not differentiate *why* the plaintiff's Labor Code claims are barred. So long as the underlying Labor Code claims cannot be advanced—whether for substantive or procedural reasons—the courts consistently find plaintiffs lack standing to pursue PAGA claims.

The Court of Appeal's decision is in line with these cases. It is consistent with general principles of standing law. The court ruled:

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